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COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs Robert Stewart, Inc. ("RSI") and John Does 1 through 5 

("Plaintiffs") bring this Complaint against Defendant Cherokee County, Georgia 

("Cherokee County" or "the County") and state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

On December 5,2006, the Cherokee County Board of Commissioners passed 

Ordinance No. 2006-003 "to establish penalties for the harboring of illegal aliens in 



Cherokee County" (the "Ordinance"). A copy of the Ordinance is attached hereto 

as Exhibit "A." The Ordinance is an attempt by Cherokee County to enact and 

enforce an impermissible local immigration law. The Ordinance will almost 

certainly be enforced in a discriminatory and disproportionate manner against legal 

immigrants and other persons of color whose ethnic origin may subject them and 

their immigration status to additional scrutiny because of stereotypes and prejudice. 

Consequently, Plaintiffs seek a Court order invalidating the Ordinance and 

prohibiting its enforcement. 

The Ordinance is facially invalid and should be struck down by the Court for 

numerous reasons. First, the Ordinance contravenes numerous provisions of the 

United States Constitution and corresponding provisions in the Georgia 

Constitution including: the Supremacy Clause which forbids municipalities from 

engaging in immigration regulation, legislating in fields reserved for the federal 

government or enforcing laws that burden or conflict with federal law; the 

Contracts Clause by interfering with lawful contractual obligations; the First 

Amendment right to freedom of speech and freedom of association; the Fourth 

Amendment right against unreasonable searches and seizures; the Fifth Amendment 



right against self-incrimination; as well as the Equal Protection Clause and the Due 

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Second, the Ordinance violates 

federal laws such as 42 U.S.C. 5 1981 ("Equal Rights Under Law"), the Federal 

Fair Housing Act, and the Fair Employment and Fair Housing Act. Third, the 

Ordinance is in direct conflict with long standing Georgia law including the 

Georgia Landlord and Tenant Act and the Municipal Home Rule Act of 1965. 

3. 

The text of the Ordinance is nearly identical to ordinances passed by the City 

of Escondido, California, the City of Hazleton, Pennsylvania and the City of Valley 

Park, Missouri. Enforcement of the City of Escondido's ordinance was suspended 

when the Southern District of California granted plaintiffs' motion for a temporary 

restraining order pending the outcome of a lawsuit challenging the ordinance on 

several constitutional grounds. Garrett et al. v. Citv of Escondido, Case No. 

06CV2434JAH reported at 2006 U.S. Dist. LlEXIS 93453 (S.D. Cal. Nov. 20, 

2006). However, on December 15,2006, the City of Escondido entered into an 

agreement permanently preventing enforcement of the ordinance, resolving the 

lawsuit. Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgment and Permanent Injunction, Garrett, 

et al. v. City of Escondido, Case No. 06CV2434JAH (S.D. Cal. Dec. 15,2006). 



Enforcement of the City of Hazleton's ordinance was suspended by the Middle 

District of Pennsylvania on October 31,2006 when it issued a temporary restraining 

order precluding such enforcement. Lozano et al. v. Citv of Hazleton, 2006 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 79301 (M.D. Pa. Oct. 31,2006). And, enforcement of the City of 

Valley Park's ordinance was halted by the St. Louis County Circuit Court on 

September 27,2006. Reynolds v. Citv of Valley Park, Case No. 06-CC-3802 

(Circuit Court of St. Louis County Sept. 27,2006). 

4. 

Cherokee County passed the Ordinance with the express goal of preventing 

landlords from allowing "illegal aliens" to occupy dwelling units. The Ordinance 

creates a new violation described as "harboring illegal aliens," and subjects 

landlords to significant penalties if they engage in "harboring" by renting to an 

"illegal alien" or allowing an "illegal alien" to occupy a dwelling unit. The 

Ordinance will have the effect of inducing landlords to deny housing to persons on 

the basis of race or national origin. Under the Ordinance, anyone who looks or 

sounds "foreign" - regardless of citizenship or immigration status - stands to be 

excluded from living in Cherokee County. 



5. 

The Ordinance is riddled with constitutional flaws and ignores the subtleties, 

complexities and primacy of federal immigration law. The Ordinance infringes on 

the federal government's authority over immigration in violation of the Supremacy 

Clause of the United States Constitution, not least because it invades a field that is 

ex(:lusively occupied by the federal government through Congress' express 

regulation of, inter alia, "harboring" persons unlawfully present in the United States 

under 8 U.S.C. 5 1324(a). 

6. 

The Ordinance violates landlords' constitutional rights by placing them in the 

impossible position of either violating the Ordinance and facing Draconian 

penalties, or violating federal and state laws by complying with the Ordinance. The 

Ordinance also violates due process by failing to require adequate or substantial 

proof before the County designates a tenant as an "illegal alien," failing to provide 

adequate procedures for landlords and tenants to contest such designation before the 

County imposes severe sanctions for alleged "harboring," and by imposing 

sanctions on landlords for alleged "harboring" before it is possible to correct any 

such violation in compliance with Georgia law. Landlords are also compelled to 



submit an affidavit in violation of the self-incrimination privilege of the United 

States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Georgia. 

7. 

Section 18-504(c) of the Ordinance requires property owners to maintain, at 

all times, personal information of their tenants regarding the tenants' immigration 

status. This section also compels that property owners make available their tenants' 

immigration status information upon demand by Cherokee County. Additionally, 

this section allows government agents to initiate an investigation of criminal 

activity without probable cause, merely with an allegation from any official, 

business entity or resident of the County. 

8. 

The Ordinance contemplates state action based on race and national origin, 

which violates the Equal Protection Clauses of the United States Constitution and 

the Constitution of the State of Georgia. 

9. 

Because the people most likely to lose their homes because of the Ordinance 

are Latinos - who as of 2005 comprise approximately 7.6% percent of the County's 

population - the Ordinance will have a disproportionate adverse impact on Latinos 



and other minority communities and will tend to have a segregative effect on 

Cherokee County, in violation of multiple federal and state laws, including but not 

limited to, federal and state fair housing and anti-discrimination laws. 

10. 

The Ordinance is similarly preempted by the Constitution of the State of 

Georgia and the Municipal Home Rule Act of 1965, O.C.G.A. § § 36-35- 1 et seq. 

The Ordinance also directly conflicts with the Georgia Landlord and Tenant Act, 

O.C.G.A. $9 44-7-1 et seq., which sets out the specific grounds for eviction and 

dispossessory procedures. Landlords cannot comply with the Ordinance without 

violating Georgia law and their contracts with their tenants. By imposing a new 

basis for commencing eviction proceedings - the tenant's status as an "illegal alien" 

- not contained in Georgia law, the Ordinance invades the comprehensive state law 

adopted by the Georgia Legislature. 

11. 

Plaintiffs respectfully request the following relief: (1) that the Court enter an 

order declaring that the Ordinance is unconstitutional and unlawful; (2)  that the 

Court grant Plaintiffs equitable relief by issuing a temporary restraining order and 

preliminary injunction, and a permanent injunction, against the enforcement of the 



Ordinance; and (3) that the Court award Plaintiffs statutory and exemplary 

damages, including all costs and attorneys' fees incurred as a result of being forced 

to bring this action. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. 

Plaintiff RSI is a Georgia corporation doing business in Cherokee County, 

Georgia. RSI owns and operates multiple rental units in Cherokee County. 

13. 

RSI receives substantial rental income from its rental units in Cherokee 

County. RSI does not know its present tenants' immigration status, it is not capable 

of making such a determination, and, as a matter of policy, does not have any 

intention of inquiring into the immigration status of its tenants or tenant applicants. 

RSI has no intention of gathering any identity data required under the Ordinance to 

obtain a federal verification of immigration status of its tenants, nor does RSI intend 

to share such private information with Cherokee County even though RSI is under 

fear of penalty of criminal and civil sanctions if it does not comply with the 

Ordinance. (This assumes that RSI could determine what the necessary identity 

data would be to satisfy the Ordinance and that federal verification of a tenant's 



immigration status could be obtained by Cherokee County -- two of many 

perplexing hurdles for landlords that the Ordinance creates.) RSI rents its units 

under written lease agreements that expressly state the terms and conditions under 

which RSI can evict a tenant or terminate a tenancy. RSI's lease agreements do not 

provide that RSI can evict any tenant on the ground that the tenant is an "illegal 

alien," nor do the lease agreements provide for an eviction proceeding that is five 

(5) business days or less. 

14. 

RSI knows that its tenants are visited by guests and family members. RSI 

has no reasonable mechanism available to determine whether through such 

visitations its tenants are "suffering" or "permitting" RSI's rented premises to be 

"occupied" by persons who are defined to be "illegal aliens" under the Ordinance, 

and whether RSI could be punished or sanctioned by Cherokee County under the 

Ordinance as a result. 

15. 

RSI has a well-founded fear that the Ordinance will be enforced against it 

and that it will suffer substantial adverse consequences if the Ordinance is not 

declared invalid and permanently enjoined. Unless the Court grants it the relief 
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sought, RSI is subject to irreparable harm by, inter alia, being subject to significant 

monetary fines for violating the Ordinance, losing and/or being refused business 

permits or licenses, being unable to collect rent on any of its rental units, and facing 

criminal misdemeanor liability for multiple violations since a separate violation 

occurs under the Ordinance for every day that an adult "illegal alien" tenant or 

occupant remains in a dwelling unit after notice from Cherokee County that the 

specified time has passed to "correct the violation." 

16. 

Unless the Ordinance is permanently enjoined and declared invalid, the 

principals of RSI may also be exposed to the imminent threat of irreparable harm 

for which there is no adequate remedy at law in terms of personal liability if, in 

attempting to comply with the Ordinance, RSZ takes adverse action against an 

individual whom the County claims may be an "illegal alien" under the Ordinance, 

where such action is prohibited by federal or state law. 

17. 

The following Plaintiffs ("Tenant Plaintiffs") rent dwelling units in Cherokee 

County under otherwise valid and binding leases and have a well-founded fear that 

they will be classified as "illegal aliens" under the Ordinance: 



a. On personal knowledge, plaintiff John Doe 1 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 2000. He has minor children who are United 
States citizens. He rents a mobile home space in unincorporated 
Cherokee County, which he has occupied continuously since 
approximately 2003. His children, who are U.S . citizens, live with 
him and attend school in Cherokee County. He is gainfully employed. 

b. On personal knowledge, plaintiff John Doe 2 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 1996 with a tourist visa. He rents a mobile 
home space in unincorporated Cherokee County, which he has 
occupied continuously since approximately 2003. He is gainfully 
employed. 

c. On personal knowledge, plaintiff Jane Doe 3 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 2001. She has minor children who are United 
States citizens. She rents a mobile home space in unincorporated 
Cherokee County, which she has occupied continuously since 
approximately 2005. Her four minor children, three of whom are 
United States citizens, live with her and attend school in Cherokee 
County. She is gainfully employed. 

d. On personal knowledge, plaintiff John Doe 4 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 2002 with a tourist visa. He has a minor 
child who is a United States citizen. He rents a mobile home space in 
unincorporated Cherokee County, which he has occupied continuously 
since approximately 2003. His two minor children, one of whom is a 
United States citizen, live with him and attend school in Cherokee 
County. He is gainfully employed. 

e. On personal knowledge, plaintiff John Doe 5 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 1999. He rents a mobile home space in 
unincorporated Cherokee County, which he has occupied continuously 
since approximately 2003. His minor children live with him and 
attend school in Cherokee County. He is gainfully employed. 



f. On personal knowledge, plaintiff John Doe 6 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 1997. He has minor children who are United 
States citizens. He rents a mobile home space in unincorporated 
Cherokee County, which he has occupied continuously since 
approximately 2001. His minor children, who are United States 
citizens, live with him and attend school in Cherokee County. He is 
gainfully employed. 

g. On personal knowledge, plaintiff John Doe 7 came to the United States 
from Mexico in or about 1999. He has minor children who are United 
States citizens. He rents a mobile home space in unincorporated 
Cherokee County, which he has occupied continuously since 
approximately 2005. His minor children, who are United States 
citizens, live with him and attend school in Cherokee County. He is 
gainfully employed. 

If the Ordinance is not declared invalid and permanently enjoined, 

enforcement of the Ordinance will pose an imminent threat of irreparable harm to 

the Tenant Plaintiffs and/or members of their families for which there is no 

adequate remedy at law by subjecting them to, inter alia, the threat of eviction from 

their homes and the inability to locate local substitute housing or for their United 

States citizen children to attend school in Cherokee County. 

RSI seeks to provide housing, and to continue to provide housing, to persons 



without regard to the Ordinance. The Tenant Plaintiffs seek to remain in occupancy 

and quiet enjoyment of their rental units in Cherokee County that they have leased 

and occupied for years. Both RSI and the Tenant Plaintiffs seek to continue 

receiving the benefits of their pre-existing contract and property rights. If not 

declared invalid and permanently enjoined, the Ordinance will adversely impact 

both RSI and the Tenant Plaintiffs in their ability to pursue their objectives. 

20. 

Defendant Cherokee County is a County existing under Georgia law, with its 

principal location at 90 North Street, Suite 3 10, Canton, Georgia 301 14, Cherokee 

County, Georgia. Cherokee County may be served with process by serving the 

current Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, Leavitt Bissell "Buzz" Ahrens, at 

90 North Street, Suite 3 10, Canton, Georgia 30 1 14, Cherokee County, Georgia, and 

by serving the acting County Attorney, Angela E. Davis, at Jarrard & Davis, LLP, 

105 Pilgrim Drive, Suite 200, Cumming, Georgia 30040. 

21. 

Cherokee County adopted the Ordinance acting through its duly authorized 

agents, the Cherokee County Board of Commissioners. Members of the enacting 

Board of Commissioners included Chainnan J. Michael Byrd, as well as 



Cornmissioners Harry Johnston, Jim Hubbard, Karen Mahurin and Derek V. Good. 

22. 

At all times relevant to this Complaint, Cherokee County and its officials, 

employees and agents were acting under color of state law. 

23. 

This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $5 1331 and 1343 

over Plaintiffs' causes of action under the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. 55 

1981 and 1983, the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 5 3601 et seq., and the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. $$ 2201 and 2202. This Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' causes of action under Georgia law pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. $ 1367. 

24. 

This Court has personal jurisdiction ovrx Defendant Cherokee County. 

Venue is proper in the Northern District of Georgia under 28 U.S.C. $ 

1391(a) where Cherokee County is subject to personal jurisdiction within the 

Northern District of Georgia, and the events which give rise to this action occurred 

entirely within the Northern District of Georgia. 



STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The Ordinance 
26. 

On November 7,2006, at a Cherokee County Board of Commissioners 

meeting, commissioner Karen Mahurin introduced the concept of adopting the 

Ordinance to the Cherokee County Commission. Commissioner Mahurin stated 

that she was aware of the Escondido, California ordinance which penalized 

landlords who rented housing to ''illegal aliens" and provided for enforcement 

through the local Marshal's Office. Commissioner Mahurin made a motion to 

request a board-initiated public hearing to be set for comment at the next meeting 

on November 21,2006 to discuss such an ordinance. Commissioner Derek Good 

then seconded Commissioner Mahurin's motion and the resulting vote was for 

unanimous approval to hold the public hearing. At the Board of Commissioners' 

meeting on November 21,2006, 13 persons spoke in opposition to the Ordinance 

and 9 spoke in favor. 

27. 

The Board of Commissioners considered the Ordinance amid a passionate 

national debate over federal immigration policy. Moreover, the Commissioners 
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enacted the ordinance after two federal courts and one state court issued Temporary 

Restraining Orders preventing cities from enforcing local ordinances which were 

substantially similar to the Cherokee County Ordinance. Judge James M. Munley 

of the United States District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania issued a 

restraining order against the City of Hazelton, Pennsylvania on October 3 1,2006. 

Judge Barbara Wallace of the Circuit Court for the County of St. Louis, Missouri 

issued a restraining order against the City of Valley Park, Missouri on September 

27,2006. On November 20,2006-just two weeks before the Cherokee County 

Board of Commissioners enacted the ordinance-Judge John A. Houston of the 

Southern District of California, issued a restraining order against the City of 

Escondido, California. 

28. 

Any of the following activities would result in a violation of the Ordinance, if 

done with "knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that an alien has come to, 

entered, or remains in the United States in violation of law, unless such harboring is 

otherwise expressly permitted by federal law": 

1. "to let, lease or rent a dwelling unit to an illegal alien"; 

2. "to suffer or permit the occupancy of the dwelling unit by an illegal 
16 



alien"; 

3. a failure to "provide the County with identity data needed to obtain a 

federal verification of immigration status" of a tenant within five 

business days after receiving written notice from the County 

demanding whatever information it asserts is necessary to comply with 

this demand; 

4. a failure to correct a violation within five business days after receiving 

written notice from the County that a violation occurred. 

Further, should a landlord actually remove an "illegal alien" from a rental 

property, the denial or suspension of the landlord's business license continues until 

one day after the landlord (or a representative thereof) submits an affidavit to the 

County not only confirming that the violation has ended, but also including the new 

"address and other adequate identifying information for the illegal aliens who were 

the subject of the complaint." Providing such information will likely prompt 

another round of charges until the "illegal alien" moves out of Cherokee County. 

As written, the Ordinance only applies to landlords subject to § 18-37 of the 

Cherokee County Code of Ordinances, not homeowners. It requires landlords to 
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evict tenants upon written notice from the County that an "illegal alien" is renting 

or staying in one of their rental properties. 

30. 

The Ordinance would deny or suspend the business license of a rental 

property owner who is alleged to be in violation of the Ordinance, without any 

hearing before such denial or suspension. This denial or suspension would preclude 

the landlord from collecting any rent, payment, fee, or any other form of 

compensation from any dwelling unit owned by the landlord in Cherokee County. 

More than one violation - which as defined in the statute would result from not 

taking action more than one day after required to do so under the terms of the 

Ordinance (since each day that passes and each adult alien "harbored" constitutes a 

separate violation) - would result in a monetary penalty of up to $1,000.00 per 

violation per day, or a jail term of sixty days per violation per day, or both. 

31. 

The Ordinance does not provide any allowance for a pre-determination 

hearing for landlords before the suspension of their business license. The 

Ordinance also does not provide a tenant or subtenant that the County believes is an 

"illegal alien" any notice or opportunity to be heard as to their right to be present in 



the United States. Nor does the Ordinance provide any procedure by which a 

landlord or a tenant can appeal the revocation of a business license or the 

designation of a tenant as an "illegal alien." 

B. Intent and Effect of the Ordinance 

32. 

The Ordinance's intent and effect is to regulate immigration within Cherokee 

County in a manner not contemplated or approved by the federal government. 

33. 

The Ordinance defines a group of individuals as "illegal aliens" and sets forth 

an unfathomable scheme intended to eliminate this group of individuals fiom 

Cherokee County by forbidding them from renting or occupying rental property. 

The Ordinance also attempts to force landlords into becoming a posse compelled to 

enforce the law. This is all done with the intent and effect of forcing immigrants to 

leave Cherokee County based on the allegedly "valid complaint" of any person - 

government officials, disgruntled neighbors, persons with their own political 

agenda who have already expressed an intent to be vigilante reporters, or even a 

landlord that wishes to get rid of a tenant subject to a valid lease agreement. 



34. 

If the Ordinance is allowed to go into effect and is enforced, it will be 

diff~cult, if not impossible, for anyone who is potentially perceived to be an "illegal 

alien" to rent or occupy a dwelling unit in Cherokee County. Landlords can be 

expected to choose to avoid the burden of compliance with the Ordinance and the 

risk of noncompliance by refusing to enter into leases with anyone whom they 

perceive potentially to be an "illegal alien" under the Ordinance. 

Cherokee County based the Ordinance on '"findings" not supported by any 

empirical data, among them: (1) that "the harboring of illegal aliens in dwelling 

units in the County, and crime committed by illegal aliens, harm the health, safety 

and welfare of legal residents in the County"; (2) that "[b]ecause such individuals 

are not in this country lawfully, there is an increased chance that they will reside in 

dwelling units without typical leasing, payment and other tenancy arrangements that 

enable the civil and regulatory processes if this County to be effective"; (3) that 

"because of the lack of tenancy arrangements which are subject to normal civil and 

regulatory processes (such as written leases, records of rent receipts, and related 

documentation which normally accompany a tenancy arrangement) there is a 



greater chance that such individuals will occupy residential units in excessively 

large numbers, or under living conditions, that do not meet applicable building and 

health safety codes. This creates unanticipated burdens on the units and the public 

infrastructure supporting such dwellings." The County offers absolutely no data or 

facts to support these overly-conclusive finding. The County does not provide or 

cite to any impartial study or information that could reasonably support these broad 

generalizations. In fact, the County's articulated rationale supports the opposite 

position, namely, since the Ordinance will forbid an entire class of persons from 

entering into tenancy agreements, "there is an increased chance that they will reside 

in dwelling units without typical leasing, payment and other tenancy arrangements 

that enable the civil and regulatory processes of this County to be effective." 

36. 

The Ordinance compels a landlord to disclose unspecified "identity data" 

regarding its tenants to the County, solely on the basis of an unsworn and unverified 

complaint to the County, even if the landlord has no reason to believe that its 

tenants may be "illegal aliens" and even if the information the landlord possesses is 

protected from disclosure under federal and state law. The Ordinance thus exposes 

landlords to a well-founded fear of civil and criminal liability for violation of 



federal and state laws prohibiting disclosure of tenants' private information. 

37. 

The Ordinance does not define the term "illegal alien" other than making a 

general reference to federal immigration laws, which include very complex 

definitions for but no definition of "illegal alien." The Ordinance 

seeks to define an "illegal alien" by requesting the federal government to verify the 

legal status of a tenant. However, the federal government's immigration resources 

are already overburdened and may not (or cannot) provide that verification to the 

County. Without the ability to obtain expeditious and accurate verifications of 

immigration status, RSI and other similarly situated landlords will have to guess the 

tenant's or prospective tenant's immigration status and, undoubtedly, will base such 

a guess upon improper gauges such as skin color, foreign accents, and surnames. 

38. 

The Ordinance actually invites such racial profiling: only "a complaint which 

alleges a violation solely or primarily on the basis of national origin, ethnicity, or 

race shall be deemed invalid" (emphasis added), whereas those based partially on 

such characteristics and stereotypes - which bear no relevance to a person's 

immigration status - will presumably be deemed valid. 



39. 

Persons who lack official documents such as a United States birth certificate, 

passport or current visa, but who are lawfully permitted to reside and work in the 

United States, may be deemed "illegal aliens" due to the inability of Cherokee 

County officials and landlords to accurately identify and interpret specialized 

immigration documents. The Ordinance also fails to delineate what information 

would be adequate andlor necessary to "verify" a tenant's immigration status, 

particularly if the information to be provided by the landlord is protected from 

disclosure under federal and state privacy laws. Notably, the Ordinance also lacks 

any procedure providing for notice or an opportunity to be heard by any tenant who 

believes his status has been improperly adjudged. 

40. 

The Ordinance requires the immediate suspension of a landlord's business 

license where the landlord "harbors illegal aliens." Yet, the Ordinance fails to 

specify the precise conduct that constitutes "harboring." For example, is 

"harboring" the act of renting a dwelling unit? Could "harboring" be the mere 

presence and occupancy of a guest? What if one of the tenants is a lawful 

immigrant or even a United States citizen (such as a minor child) and one is not? 



What happens if the landlord is informed that the tenant is an illegal immigrant - 

must the landlord immediately commence eviction proceedings under the 

Ordinance and, if so, how is the landlord to do this in compliance with Georgia 

law? The Ordinance does not say. 

41. 

Moreover, if the landlord receives a demand for information from the 

County, the landlord automatically violates the Ordinance if he fails to provide such 

information within five (5) days, even if he cannot obtain or provide such 

information within five (5) business days. When does the five business days begin 

to run -- when the demand for information is issued by the County, or when the 

demand for information is actually received by the landlord? What is a landlord to 

do if the tenant simply refuses to provide such identifying information to the 

landlord? How can a landlord lawfully compel a tenant to provide such 

information? What if the landlord only has possession of a tenant's information 

protected from disclosure under the Fair Credit Reporting Act? What if the 

landlord is presented with some form of documentation indicating the tenant is not 

an "illegal alien" but the federal government does not confinn that fact? Is a tenant 

presumptively an "illegal alien" and the landlord violating the statute unless 
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eviction proceedings are completed in five business days, regardless of Georgia's 

Landlord and Tenant Act? What if the federal government either will not or cannot 

provide verifying information to the County? The Ordinance leaves these threshold 

questions unanswered. 

C. Federal. Preemption 
42. 

The power to regulate immigration is undeniably exclusively federal and 

derives from the constitutional grant of power to Congress to "establish a uniform 

Rule of Naturalization," U.S. CONST. Art. I, 5 8, cl. 4., and to "regulate Commerce 

with foreign Nations." &, cl. 3. Additionally, the United States Supreme Court 

has held that the federal government's power to control immigration is inherent in 

the nation's sovereignty. 

43. 

Under its exclusive power over matters of immigration, the federal 

government has established a comprehensive system of laws, regulations, 

procedures, and administrative agencies that determine, subject to administrative 

and judicial review, whether and under what conditions a given individual may 

enter, stay in, and work in the United States. 



44. 

In addition to provisions that directly regulate immigrants' entry and 

behavior, federal immigration laws also include provisions directed at other classes 

of individuals, including those who harbor individuals not lawfully in the United 

States. 

45. 

The federal government has also chosen to allow certain categories of non- 

citizens, and certain individual non-citizens, to remain in the United States, even 

though such non-citizens may not have valid immigrant (permanent) or non- 

immigrant (temporary) status and/or may be removable under the federal 

Immigration and Nationality Act ("INA"). 

46. 

These laws, procedures, and policies created by the federal government 

regulate immigration and confer rights in a careful balance reflecting the national 

interest, and have been found to preempt any contrary state laws. 



47. 

The Ordinance attempts to create a system whereby a final determination that 

a tenant is or is not an "illegal alien" be made by the County solely by attempting to 

ascertain from the United States Citizen and Immigration Service ("USCIS"), under 

8 U.S.C. 5 1373(c), whether the tenant is an alien who is not lawfully present in the 

United States. However, this process is not how a determination of legal status is 

made by the federal government, and the federal immigration system does not 

produce a final determination of immigrant status at the request of a local 

government. 

48. 

Due to the Ordinance's definition of "illegal alien" and the lack of procedural 

safeguards, some persons who are permitted by the federal government to live and 

work in the United States will nevertheless be effectively barred from residing in 

Cherokee County. 

49. 

The Ordinance is preempted by federal law because it is an impermissible 

attempt to regulate immigration and because it conflicts with and interferes with 

Congress' comprehensive scheme of immigration regulation. 
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D. Discriminatory Impact of Ordinan= 

50. 

The Ordinance has a disproportionate discriminatory impact on the local 

Latino community, which constitutes approximately 7.6% of the County's 

population. Landlords likely will focus their attention on people who look or sound 

Latino, rather than other non-Latino prospective or actual tenant[s] who may be 

undocumented immigrants. 

5 1. 

Additionally, contrary to popular belief, the majority of the undocumented 

population is part of a mixed-status family, with a significant percentage (over 

25%) having children who are United States citizens and who have a right to live 

wherever they want to and go to school wherever they choose. The effect of the 

Ordinance is to punish such United States citizens and deprive them of their right to 

access the housing and schools of their choice, in violation of both federal and state 

law. (See GA. CONST. Art. I, § I, Para. VII). 

E. Federal Fair Housing Act Violations 

52. 

The Ordinance violates both the federal and state Fair Housing Acts and 
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effectively mandates that landlords do the same. 42 U.S .C.A. 5 3604 (b), 0.C.G.A 

$ 8-3-202 (2). Both acts prohibit discrimination against any person in the terms, 

conditions, or privileges of the rental of a dwelling. By requiring landlords to 

inquire into both the national original of their ciurrent and prospective tenants and 

the legal status of that origin, the Ordinance violates both federal and state Fair 

Housing laws. 

Before the filing of this action, Plaintiffs made repeated requests of 

Defendants to suspend or repeal the enactment of this Ordinance. Such requests 

have been refused. Thus, this action is the only means available to Plaintiffs to 

obtain the requested relief. Unless temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently 

enjoined, the Ordinance will cause the Plaintiffs irreparable harm for which there 

exists no adequate remedy at law. 

SPECIFIC CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I - BREACH OF THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE 
OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 53 as if 

fully set forth herein. 
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Article VI, Section 2, of the United States Constitution provides: 

This Constitution, and the Laws of the United States which shall be 
made in Pursuance thereof; and all Treaties made, or which shall be 
made, under the Authority of the United States, shall be the supreme 
Law of the Land; and the Judges in every State shall be bound thereby, 
any Thing in the Constitution of Laws of any State to the Contrary 
notwithstanding. 

The Supremacy Clause mandates that federal law preempts any state 

regulation of any matter over which Congress has expressly or impliedly exercised 

exclusive authority or which is constitutionally reserved to the federal government. 

57. 
The power to regulate immigration is a. matter over which the federal 

government has exclusive authority. 

The Ordinance is a law purporting to regulate immigration and the incidents 

thereof by focusing exclusively on preventing the "harboring" of "illegal aliens." 

This issue is specifically regulated by the federal government under, inter alia, 8 

U.S.C. 9 1324(a), which is part of the federal government's comprehensive 

statutory and regulatory scheme governing immigration. 



59. 

The Ordinance attempts to usurp the federal government's exclusive power 

over immigration and naturalization and its power to regulate foreign affairs. 

60. 

The Ordinance is preempted because its regulatory scheme attempts to 

legislate in fields occupied by the federal government. 

61. 

The Ordinance threatens the uniformity and primacy of the federal 

immigration system and conflicts with federal immigration law. 

62. 

The Ordinance thus violates the Supremacy Clause, on its face or as applied. 

63. 

Therefore, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief 

invalidating the Ordinance on the grounds that the Ordinance violates the 

Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. 

COUNT I1 - VIOLATION OF THE CONTRACTS CLAUSE 
OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

64. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 63 as if 
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fully set forth herein. 

65. 

The Contracts Clause of the United States Constitution provides that no state 

shall pass a 'law impairing the obligation of contracts." (U.S. Const. Art. I, 9 10, 

C1. 1). Article I prohibits States from enacting laws that retroactively impair 

contractual obligations. 

66. 

Section 0 18-503 of the Ordinance make: it unlawful for any landlord to 

knowingly, or in reckless disregard of the fact, harbor an "illegal alien," and 

mandates landlords evict any "illegal alien" within five business days after receipt 

of a notice of violation from the County to avoid the denial or suspension of their 

business licenses and the imposition of additional penalties. 

67. 

Further, under $18-504 of the Ordinance, if a landlord is unsuccessful in 

evicting the tenant within five business days, the landlord's business license is 

denied or suspended and the landlord is not permitted to collect any rent, payment, 

fee, or another form of compensation from, or on behalf of, any tenant or occupant 

in the dwelling (or any other dwelling covered by the landlord's business license) 



until the landlord is no longer in violation of the Ordinance, i.e., has evicted the 

tenant. 

68. 

For the stated reasons, the Ordinance fails to have a significant and legitimate 

public purpose. 

69. 

For the stated reasons, the Ordinance is not based upon reasonable conditions 

and is not of a character appropriate to the stated public purpose. 

70. 

RSI and Tenant Plaintiffs have valid lease and rental agreements for 

residential rental property in Cherokee County. Some of these agreements provide 

for the automatic renewal of the lease term upon the expiration of the agreement. 

None of these contracts allow a landlord to evict a tenant based upon "harboring of 

illegal aliens" or the fact the tenant is an "illegal alien." Therefore, despite the fact 

that the Ordinance purports to apply only to leases entered on or after January 1, 

2007, the Ordinance has impermissible retroactive application to those lease 

agreements with automatic renewal provisions. 



71. 

The eviction of a tenant or occupant within ten business days, under 

conditions not specified in lease agreements, would cause RSI and other landlords 

to breach those agreements. Such action also deprives Tenant Plaintiffs of their 

contractual rights to occupancy and quiet enjoyment of their leased dwelling units. 

Therefore, the Ordinance violates the Contracts Clause of the United States 

Constitution. 

72. 

Additionally, the Ordinance also violates the Contracts Clause of the United 

States Constitution because 5 18-504 of the Ordinance precludes RSI and other 

landlords from receiving rents under each and every existing lease or rental 

agreement should the landlord fail to timely evict a purported "illegal alien" from a 

single dwelling unit. 

73. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates the Contracts Clause of the United States 

Constitution. 



COUNT 111 - VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE 
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 

OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA 

74. 
Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 73 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

A major purpose of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution 

and of Article I, Section 1, Paragraphs 5 and 16 of the Georgia Constitution is to 

protect the free discussion of public issues and to avoid compulsion of speech by 

the government - particularly speech that may incriminate a person and subject 

them to possible criminal prosecution. 

76. 

By offering such protection, the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution serves to ensure that Plaintiffs can effectively participate in and 

contribute to our system of self-government. 

77. 

The Ordinance, under 0 0 18-503 and 18-504, compels landlords such as RSI 

to speak by requiring the landlords to provide an undisclosed quantity and quality 

of information (expressed in 18-503 as "identity data needed to obtain a federal 



verification of immigration status" and expressed in 8 18-504 as "other adequate 

identifying information") about their tenants to Cherokee County, or else incur 

significant financial penalties and criminal sanctions. Much of this "identity data" 

may be protected from disclosure by federal and state privacy laws, including 

without limitation, the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 

78. 

Because the Ordinance regulates speech by compelling landlords to provide 

information to the government under threat of criminal sanctions, both the First 

Amendment and the Equal Protection Clause and Article I, Section 1, Paragraph 16 

of the Constitution of the State of Georgia mandate that the Ordinance be narrowly 

tailored to serve substantial governmental interests, and the justifications offered for 

any distinctions drawn must be strictly scrutinized. 

79. 

The Ordinance has the effect of chilling speech between landlords and their 

tenants, for fear that a landlord's acquiring too much information would expose the 

landlord to liability when such information is demanded by the County. 



80. 

The County does not have a compelling, or even rational, state interest to 

require such speech. The Ordinance is not narrowly tailored to justify the 

requirements for compelling such speech, and is not the least restrictive means for 

the County to address the concerns delineated in the Ordinance's "findings" section. 

The Ordinance's provisions overall serve no substantial local governmental interest 

and are not narrowly tailored to affect state interests. 

8 1. 

The Ordinance also deprives Tenant Plaintiffs and their families of their First 

Amendment right to free association preventing them from sharing a deep 

attachment and experience with family members who share their home, and also by 

preventing them from living in certain geographic areas, to wit, unincorporated 

Cherokee County. 

82. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates the First Amendment and Article I, Section 1, 

Paragraph 16 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia. 



COUNT IV - VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION PROVIDED IN 
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND 

THE GEORGIA CONSTITUTION 

83. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 82 

above as stated. 

84. 

The Ordinance provides that only "a complaint which alleges a violation 

solely or primarily on the basis of national origin, ethnicity, or race shall be deemed 

invalid" (emphasis added), but permits enforcement of complaints - and denial of 

housing - based in part on national origin, ethnicity, or race. 

85. 

The Ordinance also impermissibly discriminates between homeowners not 

subject to § 18-37 of the Cherokee County orclinance who "harbor illegal aliens" 

and landlords subject to 5 18-37 who rent or lease to "illegal aliens" or have tenants 

who "harbor illegal aliens." 



86. 

The Ordinance is thus invalid under the Equal Protection Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 1, 

Paragraph 2 of the Georgia Constitution. 

87. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates both the United States Constitution's Equal 

Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and the Equal Protections Clause 

of the Georgia Constitution. 

COUNT V - VIOLATION OF PROlCEDURAL DUE PROCESS 

88. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 87 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

89. 

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution prohibits Cherokee County from depriving any person of life, liberty, 

or process without due process of law. 



90. 

RSI has a liberty and/or property interest in leasing its rental units and 

receiving income from such leases. 

91. 

The Ordinance deprives RSI of such interests without due process of law 

because it is impossible for it to comply with the Ordinance without violating 

federal and state law, including, but not necessarily limited to, federal and state 

laws prohibiting disclosure of tenants' private information and the Georgia 

Landlord and Tenant Act. 

92. 

The Ordinance also requires RSI, upon written notice by the County that a 

violation has occurred, to within five business days: (1) provide notice to its tenant 

to vacate the premises; (2) institute an unlawful detainer action; (3) prevail in that 

action; (4) evict the "llegal alien;" and (5) provide a sworn affidavit stating not 

only that the violation has ended, but also the new "address and other adequate 

identifying information for the illegal alien" so that such i n f o d o n  can be 

forwarded to federal authorities. 



93. 

The Ordinance does not require Cherokee County to sustain any burden to 

prove by sufficiently probative evidence that RSI is, in fact, renting a dwelling unit 

to an alleged "illegal alien" before the County deprives the RSI of its liberty and/or 

property interests. 

94. 

The Ordinance permits Cherokee County to suspend a RSIYs business license, 

and thus deprive RSI of its liberty and/or property interest in retaining such license, 

conducting a rental property business, and/or receiving income from rental 

property, without any hearing or proceedings before such suspension and 

deprivation occurs. The Ordinance also fails to provide a procedure by which RSI 

(or any other aggrieved landlord) can file an appeal of the revocation of is business 

license. 

95. 

The Ordinance also provides no due process within its statutory scheme for 

any person alleged to be an "illegal alien" to challenge such a designation. The 

Ordinance also fails to provide a procedure by which any alleged "illegal alien" can 

file an appeal of the County's determination of that tenant's legal status. 



96. 

The Ordinance has no relation to any legitimate local government purpose. 

Cherokee County does not have any compelling state interest or rational basis for its 

enactment, and the Ordinance is not the least I-estrictive means for the County to 

address the concerns delineated in the Ordinance's "findings" section. 

97. 

Consequently, the Ordinance, on its face or as applied, violates the Due 

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

98. 
Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates the Due I'rocess Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

COUNT VI - VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. 6 1981 

99. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 98 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

100. 

The fundamental right to contract and to full and equal benefit of all laws is 



codified at 42 U.S.C. 5 198 1, as amended by Section 101 of the Civil Rights Act of 

1991. 

101. 

Under 42 U.S.C. 5 1981, "[alll persons within the jurisdiction of the United 

States shall have the same right in every State and Territory to make and enforce 

contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence, and to the full and equal benefit of all 

laws and proceedings for the security of persons and property as is enjoyed by 

white citizens, and shall be subject to like punishment, pains, penalties, taxes, 

licenses, and exactions of every kind, and to no other." 

102. 

Section 1981 prohibits discrimination under the color of law based on 

alienage and race. 

103. 

Congress deliberately used "all persons" instead of "citizens" to reflect the 

language of the Fourteenth Amendment that extended the guarantee of equal 

protection under the laws to "any person within the jurisdiction of the United 

States." 



104. 

Plaintiffs are entitled to the protections and benefits afforded by $ 198 1, 

including Plaintiffs categorized as "illegal aliens" under the Ordinance. 

105. 

Sections 18-503 and 18-504 of the Ordinance seek to proscribe the execution 

of contracts with "illegal aliens," or the collection of rents, even owed by tenants 

who are lawfully in the United States, if a landlord fails to evict a tenant or 

occupant Cherokee County deems to be an "illegal alien." 

By enacting the Ordinance, Cherokee County has violated Plaintiffs' 

fundamental right to contract on an equal basis. 

107. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates 42 U.S.C. 3 198 1. 

COUNT VI - VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING ACT 

108. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to 107 as if 

fully set forth herein. 



The Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 5 3601 et seq., prohibits housing practices 

that discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, national 

origin, or handicap. 

110. 

Sections 18-503 and 18-504 of the Ordinance impose on RSI and other 

landlords who rent to "illegal aliens" the automatic deprivation of the right to 

collect any monies from any tenants due to the automatic suspension of the 

landlord's business license, even from tenants who are lawfully in the United 

States. 

111. 

Cherokee County has injured RSI and the Tenant Plaintiffs by threatening 

them with injury in violation of the Fair Housing Act by committing the following 

discriminatory housing practices: 

To otherwise make unavailable or deny a dwelling because of race, color, or 

national origin, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 8 3604(a): 

a. To discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or 
privileges of rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or 
facilities therewith, because of race, color, or national origin, in 
violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b); 



b. To make, print or publish, or cause to be made, printed or published, 
any notice, statement or advertisement, with respect to rental of a 
dwelling, that indicates any preference, limitation, or discrimination, 
based on race, color, or national origin, or an intention to make any 
such preference, limitation, or discrimination, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 
$3604(c); and 

c. To coerce, intimidate, threaten or interfere with any person in the 
exercise or enjoyment of, or on a.ccount of his having exercised or 
enjoyed, any of the rights granted by the FHA, in violation of 42 
U.S.C. $3617. 

Additionally, 42 U.S.C. $ 3615 provides: 

"Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to invalidate or limit 
any law of a State or political subdivision of a State, or of any other 
jurisdiction in which this subchapter shall be 'effective, that grants, 
guarantees, or protects the same rights as are granted by this 
subchapter; but any law of a State, a political subdivision, or other 
such jurisdiction that purports to require or permit any action that 
would be a discriminatory housing practice under this subchapter 
shall to that extent be invalid." (Emphasis added.) 

113. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates the Federal Fair Housing Act. 



COUNT VIII - VIOLATION OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT 
AND HOUSING ACT, O.C.G.A. $8-3-200 ET SEO. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 113 as if fully set forth herein. 

Cherokee County has injured Plaintiffs in violation of the Georgia Fair 

Employment and Housing Act, O.C.G.A. 5 8-3-200, et seq. by committing the 

following discriminatory housing practices: 

a. Refusing to sell or rent after the making of a bona fide offer, or 
refusing to negotiate for the sale or rental of, or otherwise make 
unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person because of race, 
color, religion, sex, disability, familial status, or national origin; 

b. Discriminating against any person in the terms, conditions, or 
privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of 
services or facilities in connection therewith, because of race, 
color, religion, sex, disability, familial status, or national origin; 

c. Making, printing, or publishing or causing to be made, printed, 
or published any notice, stateme~it, or advertisement, with 
respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling, that indicates any 
preference, limitation, or discrimination based on race, color, 
religion, sex, disability, familial status, or national origin, or an 
intention to make any such preference, Limitation, or 
discrimination; 

d. Representing to any person because of race, color, religion, sex, 



disability, fandial status, or national origin that any dwelling is 
not available for inspection, sale, or rental when such dwelling 
is in fact so available; or 

e. For profit, inducing or attempting to induce any person to sell or 
rent any dwelling by representations regarding the entry or 
prospective entry into the neighborhood of a person or persons 
of a particular race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or 
national origin or with a disability. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that the Ordinance violates the Georgia Fair Employment and Housing Act. 

COUNT IX - VIOLATION OF THE (GEORGIA CONSTITUTION 

117. 
Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 116 as if fully set forth herein. 

118.' 
Cherokee County has violated O.C.G.A. § 8-3-200 et seq., by adopting an 

Ordinance that has the effect of discriminating against persons as a result of their 

race, color, ancestry or national origin. 

Cherokee County's conduct as alleged constitutes a denial of full and equal 

access to housing accommodations to persons within the meaning of O.C.G.A. Q 8- 
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COUNT X - STATE LAW PREEMPTION 

120. 

Article 3, Section 6,  Paragraph 4 of the Georgia Constitution provides that 

"[l]aws of a general nature shall have uniform operation throughout this state and 

no local or special law shall be enacted in any case for which provision has been 

made by an existing general law, except that the General Assembly may by general 

law authorize local governments by local ordinance or resolution to exercise police 

powers which do not conflict with general laws." 

121. 

While municipalities may exercise police powers, Cherokee County may 

only enact ordinances within the parameters of the laws established by Georgia's 

Legislature. 

122. 

Cherokee County has violated these police powers by enacting an Ordinance 

that stands in direct conflict with federal and state laws. See GA. CONST. Article 3, 

Section 6, Paragraph 4. 



123. 

First, the Ordinance attempts to regulate immigration, a power that falls 

exclusively to the federal government. The federal government has a 

comprehensive scheme governing immigratior~, including the INA, 8 U.S.C. 1 15 1 

et seq. Because the Ordinance attempts to legislate in a field extensively occupied 

by the federal government, it exceeds the authority granted Cherokee County by 

Art. XI, 5 7 of the Georgia Constitution. 

124. 

Second, the Ordinance provides that a 1;andlord must evict an "illegal alien" 

tenant within five business days. This provision conflicts with the Georgia 

Landlord and Tenant Act, particularly O.C.G.A. 5 44-7-50, which prescribes the 

notice requirements and timetables required to evict or dispossess a tenant. 

Compliance with the Ordinance is not possible without violating the provisions of 

the Georgia Landlord and Tenant Act. See O.C.G.A. 5 44-7-1 et seq. As such, the 

Ordinance constitutes a violation of the authority granted Cherokee County under 

Article XI, $7 of the Georgia Constitution. 

125. 

Third, the Ordinance impermissibly attempts to create a new circumstance by 



which a landlord may disposess a tenant. Section 44-7-50 of the Georgia Code 

specifies only three circumstances under which a tenant may be dispossessed: (1) if 

the tenant is holding over and beyond the term of the lease; (2) if the tenant fails to 

pay rent when due; or (3) if the landlord desires possession of the premises held by 

a tenant at will or a tenant at sufferance, whether under contract of rent or not. 

None of these circumstances include or refer to a lack of United States citizenship 

or lawful or unlawful presence in the United States. Cherokee County's attempt to 

add an additional circumstance by which a landlord may disposess a tenant conflicts 

with O.C.G.A. 5 44-7-50 and therefore is a violation of the authority granted the 

County by Article XI, $7 of the Georgia Constitution. 

126. 

To constitute a valid exercise of Cherokee's police power, the Ordinance 

must relate to and be in furtherance of the pul~lic health, safety and welfare that are 

matters of local concern, and the means that the County employs to further such 

health, safety and welfare must not be highly unreasonable or arbitrary. 

127. 

Cherokee's failure to properly assess the existence of a threat to public safety 

or welfare before enacting the Ordinance is an additional abuse of the County's 



police powers. 

128. 

Before enacting the Ordinance, the Cherokee County Board of 

Commissioners failed to conduct any analysis of the criminal, fiscal, cultural, or 

other challenges facing Cherokee County to determine if: (a) any actual problem 

existed; or (b) what measures were necessary to abate such problems, if any. 

Cherokee County claims that "illegal aliens" do not report substandard housing 

conditions and occupy units in numbers beyond occupancy limits. Nowhere in the 

Ordinance record, however, are there any statistics or evidence to support the claim 

that "illegal aliens" have contributed significantly, if at all, to any real or perceived 

problems in Cherokee County. 

129. 

With no evidence presented in the Ordinance's record that "illegal aliens" 

contribute to the stated problems facing Cherokee County's housing community, 

Cherokee County cannot claim that an ordinance restricting "illegal aliens" fiom 

renting homes in the County is related to and in furtherance of the public safety and 

welfare of Cherokee County. 



130. 

The decision to ban all "illegal aliens" from renting in Cherokee County is a 

decision influenced by prejudice that has no basis in proven fact. It is palpably 

unreasonable, unduly oppressive, and wholly arbitrary that the Cherokee County 

Board of Commissioners has selected "illegal aliens" as the scapegoat for the 

County's ills. 

131. 

Because the Ordinance will do nothing to remedy the burdens alleged by 

Cherokee County, but rather will merely prevent a number of people, primarily 

racial and ethnic minorities, from renting homes in the County, the Ordinance is an 

abuse of Cherokee County's police powers. 

132. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief. 

COUNT XI - THE MUNICIPAL HOME RULE ACT OF 1965 

133. 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 132 above as stated. 



134. 

Cherokee County may not adopt a municipal ordinance that is preempted by 

federal or Georgia law, under Art. IX, Section 2, Paragraph 1 of the Georgia 

Constitution. 

135. 

Section 36-35-3 of the Georgia Code provides that "The governing authority 

of each municipal corporation shall have legi~~lative power to adopt clearly 

reasonable ordinances. . .relating to its property, affairs, and local government for 

which no provision has been made by genera2 law and which are not inconsistent 

with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto." (emphasis 

added). 

136. 

On its face, the Ordinance directly conflicts with O.C.G.A. $36-35-3 

because it contravenes the previously enacted and long-standing Landlord and 

Tenant Act codified at O.C.G.A. 5 44-7-1 to -22 (2006) and conflicts with 

numerous provisions of the Georgia Constitution. Accordingly, Cherokee County 

has exceeded its authority under the Municipal Home Rule Act of 1965 in enacting 

the Ordinance. 



137. 

The Ordinance is not "clearly reasonable" in accordance with the provisions 

of the Home Rule requirements for local governments expressed in O.C.G.A. 5 36- 

The Ordinance also violates the prohibition against special laws relating to 

the rights or status of private persons embodied by the Georgia Constitution, Art. 

111, Section 6,  Paragraph 4(c). The Ordinance: is overbroad and criminalizes activity 

which is permissible under the Georgia Constitution and the Georgia Landlord and 

Tenant Act. 

139. 

Therefore, plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief on the 

grounds that Cherokee County has exceeded its authority in attempting to enact and 

enforce the Ordinance. 

COUNT XI1 - VIOLATIOET OF PROTECTION 
FROM SELF-INCRIMINATION 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 138 above as stated. 



The Ordinance violates the protection against self-incrimination embodied in 

United States Constitution, Art. V and the Georgia Constitution, Article 1, 

Section 1, Paragraph XVI, in that it compels Plaintiff Tenants to provide to 

Cherokee County evidence which might tend to incriminate themselves. 

COUNT XI11 - VIOLATION OF PROTECTION FROM 
UNREASONABLE SEARC:HES AND SEIZURES 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 141 above as stated. 

The Ordinance violates the protection against unreasonable searches and 

seizures embodied in United States Constitution, Art. IV and the Georgia 

Constitution, Article 1, Section 1, Paragraph VIII, because the Ordinance purports 

to require landlords and tenants to prove to Cherokee County the tenants are not 

"illegal aliens," rather than requiring Cherokee County to prove that those persons 

are "illegal aliens." This is unconstitutional burden shifting. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the following: 

5; 



A. That the Court grant a declaratoiy judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $0 

2201 and 2202 in favor of Plaintiffs and against Defendant Cherokee County, 

Georgia and declare the Ordinance void because it violates numerous provisions of 

the United States Constitution, the Georgia Constitution, as well as federal and state 

law as set forth in Counts I through XI1 herein; 

B. That the Court grant Plaintiffs statutory and exemplary damages under 

Counts I through XI1 of the Complaint; 

C. That the Court grant Plaintiffs' request for equitable relief and enter a 

temporary restraining order and a preliminary and/or permanent injunction pursuant 

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65, and a permanent injunction, prohibiting Defendant Cherokee 

County, Georgia and its officials, employees, and agents from implementing or 

enforcing the Ordinance; 

D. That the Court grant Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys' fees and the 

costs of this litigation; and 

E. That the Court grant Plaintiffs such other and further relief as this 

Court may deem just, proper and equitable under the circumstances. 
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ORIGINAL 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF CHEROKEE 

ORDINANCE NO. 2006- Mfl-3 

An Ordinance to amend the Code of Ordinances of Cherokee County to add 

Secti0.n 18-500 et. seq.; to establish penalties for the harboring of illegal aliens in 

Cherokee County; to promote the public health, safety and welfare; and for other 

purposes. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Cherokee County Board of Commissioners and it is 

hereby enacted pursuant to the authority of the same that the Code of Ordinances of 

Cherokee County is hereby amended by adding thereto the following: 

SECTION I. FINDINGS. The following findings shall be included in the Code 

of Ordinances as Section 18-501: 

1. Federal law requires that certain conditions be met before an alien may be 

authorized to be a lawful permanent resident, or be lawfully present, in the 

United States. Those conditions are found principally at United States Code Title 

8, section 1101 et. seq. 

2. Illegal aliens, as defined by federal law, do not normally meet such conditions as 

a matter of law w13en present in the County. 

3. The harboring of illegal aliens in dwelling units in the County, and crime 

committed by illegal aliens harm the health, safety and welfare of legal residents 

in the County. 

4. Because such individuals are not in this country la\4ully, there is an increased 
chance that they will reside in dwelling units without typical leasing, payment 

and other tenancy arrangements that enable the civil and regulatoiy processes of 

this County to be effective. 



The regulations of the County regarding housing and property maintenance often 

depend upon reporting by residents and neighbors as a means of bringing 

unla~fu1 conditions, and notify authorities, or to participate in subsequent 

proceedings to remedy such conditions. This creates an increased likelihood tha 

housing and property maintenance violations will remain unreported and 

because such conditions are unreported, an increased chance that such 
conditions will multiply in the future. 

5. 13ecause of the lack of tenancy arrangements which are subject to normal civil 

and regulatory processes (such as witten leases, records of rent receipts, and 

related documentation which normally accompany a tenancy arrangement) there 

is a greater chance that such individuals \.rill occupy residential units in 

excessively large numbers, or under living conditions, that do not meet applicable 

building and health and safety codes. This creates unanticipated burdens on the 

units and the public infrastr~icture supporting such dwellings. 

6.  The state and federal government lack the resources to properly protect the 

citizens of Cherokee County from the adverse effects of the harboring of illegal 

aliens, and the criminal activities of some illegal aliens. 

7. The Count): tinds that i t  is in the best interest of and will senre and benefit the 

health, safety and welfare of the public and law-abiding business entities and 

property owners to adopt policies and procedures to deter and prevent the 

harboring of illegal aliens, and criminal activity by illegal aliens. 

8. United States Code Title 8 subsection 13:!4(a)(i)(A) prohibits the harboring of 

illegal aliens. The provision of housing to illegal aliens is a fundamental 

component of harboring, and has been l~eld by the Courts to constitute the crime 

of harboring. See United States v. Lopez, 521. F.ad 437(1975); cert. denied, 96 

S.Ct.q21,423 U.S. 995,46L.Ed 2d 368(1975). 

g. The County shall not construe this Ordinance to prohibit the rendering of 

emergency medical care, emergency assistance, or legal assistanceto any person. 



SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. The follotving definition shall be included in the 
Code of Ordinances as Section 18-502 and shall be construed so as to be 

consistent with state and federal law, including federal immigration law: 

For purposes of this Ordinance, Illegal Alien means an alien who is not 
lawfully present in the United States, according to the terms of United 
States Code Title 8, section 1101 et. seq. 

The County shall not conclude that a person is an illegal alien u~lless and 
until an authorized representative of the County has verified with the 
federal government, pursuant to United States Code Title 8, subsection 
1373(c), that the person is an alien who is not lawfully present in the 
United States. 

SECTION 2. HARBORING ILLEGAL ALIENS. 

ection i - $ 8 0 R I N G  ILLE(2AL ALIENS. It  is unlawf'ul for any 

person or business entity that o\ms a dwcjliing unit in the County and is subject to 

Section 18-37, to harbor an illegal alien in the dweIling unit, knowing or in 

reckless disregard of the fact that an alien has come to, entered, or I-emains in the 

United States in violation of law, unless such harboring is othenit-ise expressly 

permitted by federal law. 

a. For the purposes of this section, to let, lease, or rent a dwelling unit to an 

illegal alien, knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that an alien has 

come to, entered, or remains in the United States in violation of law, shall 

be deemed to constitute harboring. To suffer or permit the occupancy of 

the dwelling unit by an illegal alien, knowing or in reckless disregard of the 

fact that an alien has come to, entered, or remains in the United States in 

violation of law, shall also be deemed to constitute harboring. 

b. A separate violation shall be deemed to have been committed on each day 

that such harboring occurs, and for each adult illegal alien harbored in the 

dwelling unit, beginning one business day after receipt of a notice of 

violation from the County. 



c. A separate violation of this section shall be deemed to have been 

committed for each business day on which the property owner has failed, 

following written notice from the County, to provide the County with 

identity data needed to obtain a federal verification of immigration status, 

beginning five business days after the property owner receives written 

notice from the County. 

Section 18-504. ENFORCEMENT. Nottcithstanding any other provision of 

this Ordinance, the Business License Department and/or County Marshal shall 

enforce the requirements of this section as follows: 

a. An enforcement action shall be initiated by means of a written signed 

complaint to the County submitted by any official, business entity, or 

resident of the County. A d i d  conlplaint shall include an allegation that 

describes the alleged violator(s) as well as the actions constituting the 

violation, and the date and locatiorl where such actions occurred. 

b. A complaint which alleges a violation solely or primarily on the basis of 

national origin, ethnicity, or race shall be deemed invalid and shall not be. 

enforced. 

c. Upon receipt of a valid written complaint, the County shall, pursuant to 

United States Code Title 8, section 1373(c), verify with the federal 

government the lawful immigration status of a person seeking to use, 

occupy, lease, or rent a dwelling ui~it in the County. The property owner 

shall be required to maintain, at all times, the information from a-tenant 

pursuant to United States Code, Title 8, Section 1101 et. seq. and make 

said information available upon the receipt of a valid written complaint by 

the Cherokee County Business License Department and/or County 

Marshal upon request. The County shall forward identity data provided 

by the property owner to the federal government, and shall prcnride the 

property owner with written confirmation of such request for verification. 



d. If after five business days follo~ing receipt of w~itten notice from the 

County that a violation has occurreld and that the immigration status of 

any illegal alien has been verified, pursuant to United States Code Title 8, 

section 1373(c), the owner of the dwelling unit fails to correct a violation of 

this section, the County shall deny or suspend the business license ofthe 

dwelling unit as provided ia Section 18-55. 

e. For the period of suspension, the owner of the dwelling unit shall not be 

permitted to collect any rent, payrr~ent, fee, or any other form of 

conlpensation from, or on behalf of, any tenant or occupant in the d\trelling 

unit. 

f. The denial or suspension shall terminate one business day after a legal 

representative of the dwelling unit owner submits, to the Business License 

Division, a sworn affidavit stating that each and every violation has ended. 

The affidavit shall include a description the specific measures and actions 

taken by the business entity to end the violation, and shall include the 

name, address and other adequate identifying information for the illegal 

aliens \Yho were the subject of the complaint. 

g. The County shall forward the affidavit, complaint, and associated 

documents to the appropriate state or federal enforcement agency. 

h. Any dwelling unit owner who commits a second or subsequent violation of 

this section shall be subject to penalties as provided in Section 16-249 for 

each separate violation. The suspension provisions of this section 

applicable to the first violation shall also apply. 

i. Upon the request of a dwelling unit owner subject to this Section, the 

County shall, pursuant to United States Code Title 8, section 1373(c) verify 

with the federal government the lawful immigration status of a person 

seeking to use, occupy, lease, or rent a dwelling unit in the Cotmty. 



The penalties in this section shall not apply in the case of occupants of a 

dwelling unit whose status as an alien lawfully present in the United States 

has been verified. 

SECTION 4. EFFECTI[VE DATE. 

Section 18-505. The requirements and obligations of this section shall be 

effective as of January 1,2007. The enforcement provisions, however, shall not 

apply to the current term of any lease existing as of the effective date of this 

section. The enforcement provisions of this section shall apply to any leases, 

entered into or renewed, after the effective date of this section. 

SECTION 5. CONSTRUCI'ION. The requirements and obligations of this 

section shall be implemented in a manner fully consistent with federal law 

regulating immigration and protecting the civil rights of all citizens and aliens. 

SECI'ION 6. SEPGRABIIXIY. If any section, subsection sentence, clause, 

phrase, or portion of this Ordinance is held invalid or unconstitutional of an17 

reason by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a 

separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall not affect 

the validity of the remaining portions. 

4 
ENACrED THIS L'? 1 DAY OF ,2006. 

CHEROKEE COUNTY . 


